# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

#### LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

No. 19-0879

E. LAVOYD MORGAN, JR.,

VS.

Respondent.

#### BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806]
Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
rfcipoletti@wvodc.org
Jessica H. Donahue Rhodes [Bar No. 9453]
Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
irhodes@wvodc.org
Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
City Center East, Suite 1200C
4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE
Charleston, West Virginia 25304
(304) 558-7999
(304) 558-4015 – facsimile

#

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE HEARING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE

Formal charges were filed against E. Lavoyd Morgan, Jr. (hereinafter "Respondent") with the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia (hereinafter "Supreme Court") on or about September 30, 2019, and served upon Respondent via certified mail by the Supreme Court Clerk on October 3, 2019. Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel filed her mandatory discovery on or about October 23, 2019. Respondent filed his Answer to the Statement of Charges on or about November 4, 2019, and provided his mandatory discovery on November 22, 2019. An evidentiary hearing was set to commence on January 27, 2020.

Thereafter, this matter proceeded to hearing in Lewisburg, West Virginia, on January. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee (hereinafter "HPS") was comprised of Timothy E. Haught, Esquire, Chairperson; David A. Wandling, Esquire; and Reverend Robert M. Wood, Layperson. Jessica H. Donahue Rhodes, Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, appeared on behalf of the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel (hereinafter "ODC"). Lonnie C. Simmons, Esquire, appeared on behalf of Respondent, who also appeared. The HPS heard testimony from Dana F. Eddy, Esquire, Christine B. Stump, Esquire, Valerie D. Norwood Grow, Elizabeth Ann Good, Denney William Bostic, Harmony Grace Flora, Travis R. Norwood, Todd W. Clutter, Jacqueline Marie Clutter, W.T., S.P., Lonnie Dennis Lilly, P.B., Dani K. Jones, Andrew M. Arrick, D.K., Lori Ann McKinney, Crystal M. Sheppard, E.L., T.R., J.H., Denise Pettijohn, Esquire, Richard D. McKinney, Kelsea L. Hower, Lisa Stansell Galitz, Hunter P. Chellis, R.D., Theresa L. Reynolds, Sara E. Reynolds, Brandon E. Perdue, Zana G. Osborne, Tina O'Neill and Respondent. In addition, ODC Exhibits 1-350 and Joint Exhibit 1 were admitted into evidence.

On or about April 14, 2020, the HPS issued its decision in this matter and filed its "Report of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee" (hereinafter "Report") with the Supreme Court. The HPS properly found that the evidence established that Respondent committed multiple violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct (hereinafter "RPC"). The HPS issued the following recommendation as the appropriate sanction:

- That Respondent's law license be annulled;
- That Respondent refund the following:
  - i. \$1,192.50 to PDS;
  - ii. \$7,500.00<sup>2</sup> to Valerie Norwood;
  - iii. \$3,500.00<sup>3</sup> to W.T.;
  - iv. \$3,500.004 to E.L.;
  - v. \$9,000.005 to Todd Clutter;
  - vi. \$1,250.006 to Lonnie Lilly;
  - vii. \$3,000.00<sup>7</sup> to R.D.;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For convenience, an Appendix is attached to this Brief recites all of the Rules of Professional Conduct that Respondent was found to have violated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ms. Norwood testified that she received a check for \$500.00 from Respondent. Further, testimony was presented that Respondent falsified the itemization he provided for his representation of Travis Norwood. Therefore, Respondent needs to refund the entire amount, less what he has already paid.

Respondent did not have a written fee agreement for his representation of S.P., W.T.'s granddaughter, and therefore, needs to refund the entire amount.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Respondent did not have a written fee agreement for his representation of E.L., and therefore, needs to refund the entire amount.

<sup>5</sup> This was the amount listed in Mr. Clutter's ethics complaint, and Respondent did not provide an accounting to show he learned that amount.

<sup>6</sup> Respondent did not have a written fee agreement for his representation of Lonnie Lilly, and therefore, needs to refund the entire amount.

Respondent did not have a written fee agreement for his representation of R.D., and therefore, needs to refund the entire amount.

- viii. \$4,800.008 to T.R.;
- ix. \$3,050.009 to D.K.;
- x. \$1,300.00<sup>10</sup> to J.H.;
- xi. Judgment plus interest11 to Elizabeth Good; and
- xii. \$3,500.00<sup>12</sup> to P.B.
- That Respondent must comply with the mandates of Rule 3.28 of the Rules of Lawyer
  Disciplinary Procedure (hereinafter "RLDP") unless he has submitted such as part of his
  immediate suspension in Case No. 19-0885; and
- Respondent be ordered to pay the costs of these proceedings pursuant to Rule 3.15 of the RLDP.

#### B. FINDINGS OF FACT

Respondent is a lawyer practicing in Lewisburg, which is located in Greenbrier County, West Virginia. ODC 50, Bates 2136; 1/28/20 H.G. Trans. 181. Respondent, having passed the bar exam, was admitted to The West Virginia State Bar on October 2, 1995. ODC 50, Bates 2136; 1/28/20 Hrg. Trans. 180-181. As such, Respondent is subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court and its properly constituted Lawyer Disciplinary Board.

Respondent did not have a written fee agreement for his representation of T.R., and therefore, needs to refund the entire amount. T.R. The entire fee was to be \$5,000.00, but T.R. testified she did not pay Respondent \$200.00 of that amount.

<sup>9</sup> Respondent did not have a written fee agreement for his representation of D.K., and therefore, needs to refund the entire amount.

Respondent did have a written fee agreement for his representation of J.H., and it was for a flat fee of \$2,500.00. The additional \$1,000.00 J.H. paid to Respondent should be refunded along with the \$300.00 J.H. had to pay to get copies of his file from the circuit court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Ms. Good testified Respondent owed her \$2,342.00 for unpaid wages, and she did file an action in Magistrate Court to obtain those wages. There was a judgment entered against Respondent, so the full amount of the judgment plus interest needs to be paid.

P.B. paid Respondent \$3,500.00 for representation in two cases, and then Respondent billed P.B. P.B. paid the additional bill and therefore, Respondent should refund the initial payment he received from P.B.

# COUNT I I.D. No. 17-05-329 Complaint of Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel

On or about June 8, 2017, the ODC was provided with documentation showing Respondent had billed the Public Defender Services Corporation (hereinafter "PDS") for time over 18 hours on eighteen days. ODC 2, Bates 2-46. Specifically, the time and days were listed as follows:

| Date     | Number of Hours Submitted to PDS |  |
|----------|----------------------------------|--|
| 2/22/16  | 18.6                             |  |
| 3/22/16  | 19.1                             |  |
| 5/2/16   | 22.8                             |  |
| 5/6/16   | 18.3                             |  |
| 5/23/16  | 22.4                             |  |
| 7/6/16   | 18.5                             |  |
| 7/12/16  | 20.2                             |  |
| 7/26/16  | 27.0                             |  |
| 8/4/16   | 18.3                             |  |
| 8/9/16   | 23.7                             |  |
| 8/17/16  | 20.3                             |  |
| 8/30/16  | 20,4                             |  |
| 9/2/16   | 26.9                             |  |
| 9/26/16  | 18.6                             |  |
| 9/28/16  | 19.2                             |  |
| 10/17/16 | 21.8                             |  |
| 12/13/16 | 20.1                             |  |
| 1/3/17   | 20.2                             |  |
|          |                                  |  |

On or about September 28, 2017, Respondent responded that his office used a combination of written contemporaneous time slips and time reconstructed from review of the files at the time of billing. ODC 7, Bates 58. When reconstructing time, the office manager often would enter time related to a given court appearance on the same date as the court appearances, even if it did not occur on that date. ODC 7, Bates 59. Time spent on weekends was often moved to a weekday. Id. Reconstructed time was often entered as the date the voucher was prepared for data entry convenience. Id. Respondent also asserted that unaccounted-for time was lost, resulting in frequent underbilling on case files. Id.

#0084749 WPD

Respondent acknowledged and affirmed that it was his duty to properly review bills, maintain time records, and assure the accuracy of material submitted to the Court and to the PDS. Id. Respondent said that he is aware of W.Va. Code 29-21-13a, which required attorneys to keep detailed time records, but noted there is nothing within the statute, the PDS website, or case law which precludes the use of reconstructed time. ODC 7, Bates 60. The only requirement under the code section is that the time records be accurate and detailed. Id. Respondent stated that, based on a review of his billings, the daily time discrepancies were overwhelming based on the dates entered as to reconstructed time. ODC 7, Bates 63. Respondent said that other billing errors were caused by misidentification of the billing attorney and clerical errors causing a duplicate time entry. Id. Respondent stated that he has changed office policy to require contemporaneous handwritten time slips be used on all time entered, and also instituted internal procedures to discontinue the use of reconstructed billing. ODC 7, Bates 64.

In additional correspondence, Respondent stated that time for a second attorney, Denise Pettijohn, Esquire, was attributed to Respondent on several dates. ODC 15, Bates 209-211. Respondent said he was not alerted to the misidentification on the face of the submission materials. Id. Respondent provided information indicating that a lot of the time was for work on weekends or another day, and it was incorrectly submitted for the wrong dates. ODC 22, Bates 243. Respondent acknowledged duplicate travel time was submitted for the following days: (1) 1.5 hours on May 2, 2016 (ODC 7, Bates 87-88); (2) 1.5 hours on September 2, 2016 (ODC 7, Bates 138); (3) 1.5 hours on September 28, 2016 (ODC 7, Bates 143); and (4) 1 hour on October 17, 2016 (ODC 7, Bates 146). Bates 146). Respondent stated time provided by Ms. Pettijohn was claimed for him as follows: (1) 6.6

At a rate of \$45.00 an hour, with 5.5 hours of duplicate billing, Respondent owes a refund of \$247.50.

hours on May 6, 2016 (ODC 7, Bates 89-92); (2) 5.7 hours on July 6, 2016 (ODC 7, Bates 100-103); (3) 2.9 hours on July 26, 2016 (ODC 7, Bates 114-115); (4) 1.3 hours on August 17, 2016 (ODC 7, Bates 128-129); (5) 3 hours on September 2, 2016 (ODC 7, Bates 137); and (6) 1.8 hours on September 28, 2016 (ODC 7, Bates 143-144).

Disciplinary Counsel sought information from PDS about the days listed by Respondent as the correct days for his time. ODC 10, Bates 170-171. For several days, the time already submitted by Respondent, plus the additional time he listed made those days have high hours. ODC 10, Bates 170. Those days are as follows:

- July 11, 2016: 10.6 hours plus the 7.9 hours from Respondent's corrections = 18.5 hours (ODC 10, Bates 170; ODC 7, Bates 105-109);
- July 25, 2016: 11.6 hours plus 4.8 hours from Respondent's corrections = 16.4 hours (ODC 10, Bates 170; ODC 7, Bates 110-113);
- August 3, 2016: 14.3 hours plus 4 hours from Respondent's corrections = 18.3 hours (ODC 10, Bates 170; ODC 7, Bates 116-117);
- August 8, 2016: 17.3 hours plus 3.4 hours from Respondent's corrections = 20.7 hours (ODC 10, Bates 170; ODC 7, Bates 120-122); and
- e. August 29, 2017: 15.8 hours plus 1.4 hours from Respondent's corrections = 17.2 hours (ODC 10, Bates 170; ODC 7, Bates 130-131).

Respondent was asked to address these dates, along with the numerous corrections with high numbers of hours for weekends. ODC 18, Bates 220-221. Additionally, Respondent's correction to add 9.5 hours to December 20, 2016, made the total number of hours submitted for that day = 28.8 hours. ODC 25, Bates 461-462; ODC 7, Bates 151-152; ODC 15, Bates 211.

Respondent filed additional correspondence and again stated time for weekends or other days were submitted for the wrong dates. ODC 22, Bates 243. Further, Respondent said 6.1 hours for a paralegal on August 3, 2016, was submitted as his work. A ODC 22, Bates 243, 258-260. Regarding his high hours billed for weekends, Respondent stated that he is required to work weekends to handle

At a rate of \$45.00 an hour, with 6.1 hours being submitted incorrectly by Respondent, a refund of \$274.50 is due to PDS.

follow-up work made necessary by his weekday schedule. ODC 22, Bates 243. Respondent noted that due to personal health issues that required health care appointments during regular working hours, it was the norm in 2016 and currently for him to work on one weekend day, if not both weekend days. Id. Further, Respondent stated that he was forwarding a check to PDS for the 5.5 hours of duplicate travel time in the amount of \$247.50. ODC 22, Bates 247.

On or about January 11, 2018, Disciplinary Counsel obtained updated information from PDS, which showed that Respondent had days previously noted which had an increase in the number of hours billed, and those are as follows:

```
February 22, 2016
                            18.6 hours (old) (ODC 2, Bates 3-4)
                                                                   19.0 hours (new)
f.
                            22.4 hours (old) (ODC 2, Bates 12-14) 22.7 hours (new)
       May 23, 2016
g.
h.
       September 28, 2016
                            19.2 hours (old) (ODC 2, Bates 37-38) 22.3 hours (new)
                            20.1 hours (old) (ODC 2, Bates 42-43) 20.9 hours (new)
i.
       December 13, 2016
                            20.2 hours (old) (ODC 2, Bates 44-46) 22.5 hours (new)
j.
       January 3, 2017
```

ODC 24, Bates 277-278. Respondent also had new days with eighteen or more hours, and they are as listed:

| k  | May 31, 2016      | 18.0 hours |
|----|-------------------|------------|
| 1. | October 21, 2016  | 20.7 hours |
| m. | October 26, 2016  | 18.8 hours |
| n. | November 10, 2016 | 18.3 hours |
| o. | November 29, 2016 | 20.5 hours |
| p. | December 2, 2016  | 18.5 hours |
| q. | December 5, 2016  | 18.0 hours |
| r. | December 19, 2016 | 19.4 hours |
| S. | December 20, 2016 | 19.3 hours |
| t. | January 25, 2017  | 18.0 hours |
| u. | February 1, 2017  | 18.9 hours |
| v. | February 2, 2017  | 19.9 hours |
| w. | March 1, 2017     | 21.0 hours |
| X. | March 6, 2017     | 20.5 hours |
| y. | March 10, 2017    | 19.0 hours |
| z. | April 19, 2017    | 18.5 hours |
|    |                   |            |

ODC 24, Bates 277-278. Respondent was asked to address the billings for those new dates, and also about the additional hours he attributed to December 20, 2016, wherein the PDS report showed 19.3

hours already billed for that date. ODC 25, Bates 461-462. The new total for that date would be 28.8 hours. ODC 25, Bates 461.

Respondent filed a response and indicated that the incorrect dates were submitted along with work performed by an associate as follows: (1) 1.1 hours on October 21, 2016 (ODC 28, Bates 466, 474); (2) 3.5 hours on November 10, 2016 (ODC 28, Bates 466, 478); (3) 1.7 hours on December 2, 2016 (ODC 28, Bates 466, 482); (4) 1.3 hours on December 5, 2016 (ODC 28, Bates 466, 483); (5) 1.1 hours on December 19, 2016 (ODC 28, Bates 466, 487); (6) 2.6 hours on January 25, 2017 (ODC 28, Bates 491-492); (7) 4.2 hours on February 1, 2017 (ODC 28, Bates 466, 494); (8) 1.1 hours on March 1, 2017 (ODC 28, Bates 466, 499); (9) 1.2 hours on March 10, 2017 (ODC 28, Bates 466, 523); and 3.5 hours on April 19, 2017 (ODC 28, Bates 466, 505). Respondent admitted to overbilling as follows: (1) 3 hours on November 29, 2016 (ODC 28, Bates 479-480); (2) 1.4 hours on December 2, 2016 (ODC 28, Bates 467, 481); and (3) 1 hour on December 19, 2016 (ODC 28, Bates 467, 487). Bates 467, 487).

In an additional response from Respondent, Respondent said that the additional hours added to the initial days were correct. ODC 28, Bates 465-466, 469-470. Further, Respondent stated that he could not resolve the errors for December 20, 2016, in particular the 9.5 hours he attributed from December 13, 2016 to December 20, 2016. ODC 32, Bates 518. Respondent "suggest[ed] the 9.5 hours be stricken and amounts reimbursed to PDS." Id. Respondent noted that he had completed assessments with the Lawyer's Assistance Program and was awaiting a report. ODC 32, Bates 519. Respondent further noted that he was undergoing a medical procedure on April 6, 2018. Id. An

60084749.WPD 8

Respondent overbilled for 5.4 hours of out of court time and, therefore, he owes a refund of \$243.00 to PDS.

The 9.5 hours from December 13, 2016, that Respondent initially attributed to December 20, 2016, was for out of court time. Accordingly, Respondent owes a refund of \$427.50 to PDS.

inquiry to the Supreme Court revealed there were no submissions for Respondent regarding invoices for family court or mental hygiene matters. ODC 64, Bates 2384-2385; ODC 66, Bates 2390-2391.

Denney Bostic provided a sworn statement on July 17, 2018, and stated that Respondent billed for work which Mr. Bostic performed in court appointed cases as if Respondent had done the work. ODC 166, Bates 3361-3362. Mr. Bostic denied that Respondent put in a lot of work in court appointed cases (ODC 166, Bates 3352-3354), and rarely worked on weekends or holidays. ODC 166, Bates 3403. Mr. Bostic said Respondent was not in his office everyday. ODC 166, Bates 3360.

On or about August 6, 2018, Lonnie C. Simmons, Esquire, filed a Notice of Substitution of Counsel indicating he was representing Respondent in this case. ODC 48, Bates 1803-1804.

At her September 7, 2018 sworn statement, Harmony Flora stated that the time on the vouchers submitted to PDS were not correct. ODC 187, Bates 5021-5022. Ms. Flora was unaware of Respondent working on weekends. ODC 187, Bates 5023.

At her October 25, 2018 sworn statement, Denise Pettijohn, Esquire, indicated that she began work at Respondent's law office as an attorney, and there were no other attorneys working there when she began working there in or around 2014 or 2015. ODC 194, Bates 5133. While working at Respondent's office, she would review vouchers submitted to PDS for the cases she handled and, at times, she would make changes on the vouchers when she reviewed them regarding the time for the action or the specificity of the action. ODC 194, Bates 5115, 5117. She discovered some voucher submissions in her cases showed work performed by Respondent, but he never appeared in those cases. ODC 194, Bates 5142-5143. She stated Respondent's law office went by Morgan and Associates, and she was unaware of any associate working there at that time. ODC 194, Bates 5133.

At his sworn statement on November 1, 2018, Respondent stated that the name of his law office was E. Lavoyd Morgan and Associates, LC, but admitted that there are no other attorneys in

his office as of the beginning of 2018. ODC 53, Bates 2142-2143. Respondent also acknowledged that an attorney cannot bill over 24 hours in a day. ODC 53, Bates 2166. Respondent said that he did not record all of the time he worked on PDS cases, and that he would "underestimate" the time it took to prepare a pleading because he had to recreate the time. ODC 53, Bates 2168, 2170. Respondent indicated that he "c[a]me to learn that PDS prefers time entries in tenths of an hour." ODC 53, Bates 2172. Respondent denied reading the statute regarding billing to PDS. ODC 53, Bates 2173. Respondent stated that he took "full responsibility . . . to make sure [the billing entries are right." Id. Respondent never questioned his staff entering time he worked on the weekends on weekdays. ODC 53, Bates 2175. Respondent said he never taught anyone how to handle the billing. ODC 53, Bates 2177. Respondent stated that he billed in fifteen minute increments. ODC 53, Bates 2178-2179. Respondent could not answer if the additional 9.5 hours he attributed to December 20, 2016, in his initial response were overbilling, and said that he did not resolve the errors. ODC 53, Bates 2179-2180. Respondent then admitted that it was hard to work an 18 hour day. ODC 53, Bates 2181. Respondent was unaware of what the check to PDS for \$40.50 was for. ODC 53, Bates 2184. Respondent was unaware how Mr. Bostic's work was billed to PDS, but acknowledged some attorney time billed for him was work performed by Mr. Bostic. ODC 53, Bates 2219-2220. Respondent admitted he reviewed the vouchers. ODC 53, Bates 2170-2171.

On or about March 22, 2019, PDS provided additional information regarding Respondent, and his submission of bills for May 4, 2017 at 19.2 hours. ODC 61, Bates 2368-2379. On or about March 25, 2019, a copy of the PDS information was sent to Respondent asking him to provide a response regarding the hours. ODC 62, Bates 2380.

On or about April 19,2019, Respondent filed additional correspondence regarding the billing on May 4, 2017, for 19.2 hours. ODC 67, Bates 2392-2395. Respondent said there were incorrect

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