BEFORE THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

No. 19-0879

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

V.

E. LAVOYD MORGAN, JR.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S APPEAL BRIEF

Lonnie C. Simmons (W.Va. I.D. No. 3406)

DIPIERO SIMMONS MCGINLEY & BASTRESS, PLLC
P.O. Box 1631

Charleston, West Virginia 25326

(304) 342-0133

lonnie.simmons@dbdlawfirm.com

Counsel for Respondent E. Lavoyd Morgan, Jr.

I. Introduction

To the Honorable Justices of the

West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals:

Respondent E. Lavoyd Morgan, Jr., has lived the American dream, where through hard work and perserverance, he went from being a high school dropout to becoming a member of the West Virginia State Bar on October 2, 1995. (January 28, 2020 Tr. 180-81). Once he was admitted to the

Bar, Mr. Morgan set out to being the best lawyer he could be and to place himself in a position to help as many people in his community as he could. To that end, after starting out by working with other lawyers, Mr. Morgan decided to hang out his own shingle and open up his law office in Lewisburg, West Virginia.

Mr. Morgan now appears before this Court at the lowest point in his professional career. On April 1, 2020, the Office of Disciplinary Counsel (ODC) submitted a proposed 158-page order, including 485 proposed findings of fact and 26 pages of proposed conclusions of law. On this same date, counsel for Mr. Morgan submitted a proposed 51-page order, including 112 proposed findings of fact and 13 pages of proposed conclusions of law. The Hearing Panel in this ethics matter, which involved 15 notebooks, 9,417 Bates numbered pages, and the testimony of 21 witnesses on day one and 12 witnesses on day two, adopted **verbatim** the ODC's proposed order, in which the ODC recommended the annulment of Mr. Morgan's hard earned law license. The Hearing Panel agreed to the same simply by signing the Word document presented by the ODC. Apparently, none of the objections or arguments presented by Mr. Morgan's counsel, including issues never before addressed by this Court, merited any mention or consideration whatsoever in the final order.

In an effort to be completely open and honest, the Court should be made aware of the fact that on April 3, 2020, Mr. Morgan was involved in a tragic accident that resulted in the death of his fiancee, Amelia Braden "Molly" Winsby. Mr. Morgan was arrested for driving under the influence of alcohol causing death and presently remains on home confinement pending the final resolution of these criminal charges. Thus, Mr. Morgan presently is dealing with the lowest point in his professional and personal life.

Because Mr. Morgan wants to continue practicing law in this State and to prove that he is worthy of the public's and the Court's trust, he objected to the recommendation of annulment and seeks to persuade the Court to devise a more appropriate suspension with conditions designed to give him the hope that he once again will be able to practice as a lawyer. It would be very easy for the Court to be overwhelmed by the 158-page order, the ODC's 110-page "brief," and to conclude that Mr. Morgan must have really committed a multitude of ethical sins worthy of annulment. However, despite the thousands of documents and reams of paper generated in this ethics proceeding, Mr. Morgan respectfully submits the recommendation of annulment is completely unjustified under these facts.

II. Assignment of Error

Whether the Hearing Panel's verbatim adoption of the ODC's proposed 158-page order recommending annulment should be rejected by the Court because:

- Respondent's actions were the result of negligence, rather than intentional acts;
- The Hearing Panel failed to give any mitigation consideration to the fact that an employee of Respondent stole money from several of Respondent's potential clients; and
- 3. The Hearing Panel failed to give any mitigation consideration to the impact Respondent's health problems had on running his law office?

III. Statement of the case

A. Procedural history

The disciplinary actions against Mr. Morgan proceeded on two separate tracks. First, on or about September 27, 2019, the ODC filed in this Court a petition seeking the immediate suspension of Mr. Morgan's law license. After the matter was fully briefed and argued, on March 20, 2020, the Court issued its decision granting the ODC's petition for immediate suspension, suspending Mr.

Morgan immediately until the pending STATEMENT OF CHARGES is resolved by the Court, ordering the Chief Judge in Greenbrier County to appoint a lawyer to serve as the trustee for Mr. Morgan's law practice during the pendency of this suspension, and requiring the Hearing Panel to expedite the issuance of its final ruling within sixty days.

The second track was the usual procedure followed in lawyer ethics cases. On or about September 30, 2019, the ODC filed with the Court the STATEMENT OF CHARGES against Mr. Morgan. On or about November 4, 2019, Mr. Morgan filed RESPONDENT'S ANSWER in response to the STATEMENT OF CHARGES. Two days of hearing were held on January 27 and 28, 2020. At the end of the hearings, the Hearing Panel asked counsel to provide proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, which were filed on April 1, 2020.

B. The charges asserted against Mr. Morgan

 Poor communications, over reliance on his office staff to handle finances and client contact, negligence in training and supervising his staff, and overall negligence in running his office

The complaints filed against Mr. Morgan fall into several different general categories. The number of complaints reflects not only the fact that Mr. Morgan is a hard worker who tried to help as many clients as he could, but also is yet another example of how social media in a small community can generate a lot of controversy about a lawyer, resulting in the filing of so many different complaints.

Negligence: In this ethics proceedings, Mr. Morgan freely acknowledged his shortcomings and negligence in running his office. As a solo practitioner, Mr. Morgan necessarily placed a lot of reliance on his staff to take care of the day to day issues in the office while he attended proceedings in magistrate, family, and circuit courts in Greenbrier, Pocahontas, Monroe, Summers, Raleigh, Nicholas, and Fayette counties. (January 28, 2020 Tr. 181). He left the handling of his finances

initially to his then wife Tina O'Neil. Clearly, Mr. Morgan was negligent in failing to review his bank statements on a regular basis and in failing to train Ms. O'Neil in the ethics rules governing the handling of client money in a law firm.

The ODC recommended and the Hearing Panel adopted multiple findings and conclusions that Mr. Morgan's actions were intentional, rather than negligent. Thus, the Court's characterization of Mr. Morgan's actions will be critical to the resolution in this matter.

Mitchell Coles: Mr. Morgan gave a person named Mitchell Coles a chance to be his main paralegal. This decision turned out later to be a huge mistake because Mr. Coles used his position in Mr. Morgan's office to take money directly from clients, to keep the money himself, and to give the client the impression that Mr. Morgan represented them. During this proceeding, Mr. Morgan had the experience of meeting some of these "clients" for the first time because he had never met them and did not have any file on them. Of course, Mr. Morgan recognizes he has a legal liability owed to these clients with respect to the money they paid to Mr. Coles, but Mr. Morgan continues to deny he committed any ethical violation in connection with these clients, other than his negligence in supervising Mr. Coles.

The ODC failed to recommend and the Hearing Panel similarly failed to acknowledge how the actions of Mr. Coles must be considered as a mitigating factor for Mr. Morgan. The issue of how to consider the actions of a law firm employee, who commits crimes against the lawyer as well as the clients, has never before been addressed by this Court.

¹This Court has issued two decisions involving Mr. Coles: State v. Coles, ___ W.Va. ___, S.E.2d __, 2013 WL 5476375 (No. 13-0149, 10/01/13), and State v. Coles, 234 W.Va. 132, 763 S.E.2d 843 (2014). Mr. Morgan testified that when he hired Mr. Coles, he did not know about his criminal record. Even after learning about his criminal record, Mr. Morgan was so impressed with Mr. Coles that he kept him as an employee. (January 28, 2020 Tr. 274-80).

Health issues: Between September, 2017, and May, 2018, Mr. Morgan began suffering from serious medical issues that made it difficult for him to make it into his office. Eventually, as will be discussed below, Mr. Morgan was forced to undergo several surgeries, which caused him to be out of his office for several months. During this time, Mr. Coles was in charge of the office and that is when he stole money from clients. Mr. Coles actually was arrested for other crimes he committed around the time Mr. Morgan was hospitalized, which effectively left the office empty. During this time, many of the complainants alleged they could not reach Mr. Morgan by telephone. Also, the mail during this time piled up and played a factor in many of the complaints filed.

The ODC recommended and the Hearing Panel adopted findings and conclusions failing to give Mr. Morgan's health issues the mitigation consideration they deserved.

ODC responses: Mr. Morgan and his counsel made a sincere effort to respond to every request for a response from the ODC regarding all of the complaints filed. The record reflects that there is not one single complaint filed against Mr. Morgan to which he never responded at all. In this case, one response was never enough. The ODC requested response after response after response to the same complaint. According to the record, there were several ODC requests to which no response was filed. Mr. Morgan was able to find one ODC request that was mailed to the wrong address. Also, to the extent an ODC request was sent to Mr. Morgan's counsel and no response was filed, Mr. Morgan should not be disciplined for his counsel's own incompetence.²

²As a point of person privilege, counsel for Mr. Morgan has a routine habit of first having all mail scanned into the office system and then calendaring any ODC requests. Counsel has never found in his office the ODC requests that allegedly were ignored by counsel. The fact that there were multiple ODC requests sent to Mr. Morgan's counsel that never generated a response came as a surprise to his counsel. Regardless of how this occurred, counsel respectfully assures the Court that he did not intentionally ignore an ODC request for information in this case. In any event, Mr. Morgan is not responsible for these alleged violations.

The ODC recommended and the Hearing Panel adopted findings and conclusions that somehow Mr. Morgan intentionally and deliberately refused to file responses to some of the ODC's requests for information when, in fact, such failures were the result of negligence.

Financial issues: Finally, although Mr. Morgan had a successful law practice, there were times when the money became real tight and he was unable to pay all of his obligations, including the payment of employees. As a result, two former employees filed ethics complaints against him based upon the failure to be paid money they were owed. Mr. Morgan respectfully submits these issues were financial in nature, rather than being a violation of any of his ethical duties as a lawyer.

With this general understanding of the charges, Mr. Morgan now will address each count separately.

2. Count I PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICES (Negligence)

In Count I, the ODC alleges Mr. Morgan violated Rules 3.3(a)(1), 1.5(a), 8.4(c) &(d), 5.3, and 8.1(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct in connection with the billing he submitted to the West Virginia Public Defender Services (PDS) for appointed work he had performed. Specifically, the ODC alleges Mr. Morgan misrepresented his actual and necessary time expended for services performed in PDS cases, he engaged in improper and unsubstantiated PDS billing, he failed to ensure his staff's conduct was compatible with his professional obligations, and he made false statements about the work performed in PDS cases.

In responding to the multiple inquiries about his PDS billing, Mr. Morgan and his counsel conducted in depth research to identify any errors made in the billing, which would explain what appeared to be an excessive number of hours billed. Through this process, Mr. Morgan discovered some basic math errors, incorrect dates, billings attributed to another lawyer in his firm, and some

errors for which Mr. Morgan could not find any explanation. All of these accounting issues are discussed in some detail in the responses filed, which are included in the Exhibit Notebooks.

Tina O'Neil, who previously was married to Mr. Morgan and was employed as his office manager from about 2008 through August 1, 2017, explained the procedure followed in submitting bills to PDS. (January 28, 2020 Tr. 227, 235). Ms. O'Neil explained she had never received any training on the ethics rules governing the maintenance of bank accounts in a law firm. (January 28, 2020 Tr. 227-28). With respect to process PDS bills, Ms. O'Neil explained that Mr. Morgan and the other lawyers in the office kept their own timeslips, which were used to create the bill for PDS. Either Ms. O'Neil or some of the other employees in the office processed these PDS bills. (January 28, 2020 Tr. 228-29). Mr. Morgan never gave instructions to the employees in the office to inflate the numbers submitted to PDS. (January 28, 2020 Tr. 230). Denney Bostic, who was employed by Mr. Morgan as a paralegal, testified that Respondent had never asked him to pad his time in PDS cases. (January 27, 2020 Tr. 128).

Mr. Morgan testified that he reviewed the PDS bills before signing and having them submitted. (January 28, 2020 Tr. 193). Although he had never prepared a voucher for billing PDS, Mr. Morgan agreed that he had the ultimate responsibility for the accuracy of his PDS bills. (January 28, 2020 Tr. 195). Mr. Morgan made every effort to keep accurate time on his timeslips and when he traveled for more than one client on the same day, he billed one client for the trip to the court and the other client for the return trip. (January 28, 2020 Tr. 199). Since March of 2018, Mr. Morgan has been appointed to at least 93 criminal cases, but Respondent has chosen not to bill for all of the work he has performed in an effort to mitigate any possible overbilling from his office. (January 28, 2020 Tr. 200).

The ODC represents that after having this accounting performed on the PDS vouchers identified, Mr. Morgan owes PDS approximately \$1,732.50. (¶27 STATEMENT OF CHARGES). Working on 93 appointed criminal cases without submitting any invoices for that work to PDS more than covers the amount of money the ODC claims Mr. Morgan owes to PDS.

Unlike the ODC's proposed conclusions which were adopted verbatim by the Hearing Panel, the record supports a finding that Mr. Morgan was negligent in explaining the ethics rules governing law firm bank accounts, negligent in supervising the employees in his office, negligent in supervising how the PDS billing was conducted, and negligent in reviewing the PDS invoices closely to makes sure they accurately reflected the time noted on the timeslips. There is no factual basis supporting the ODC's allegation and the Hearing Panel's conclusion that Mr. Morgan deliberately made false statements in connection with his PDS cases.³

3. Count II TRAVIS NORWOOD (Negligence)

In Count II, the ODC alleges Respondent violated Rules 1.5(b), 1.15(a) & (c), 1.16(d), 8.4(c) & (d), and 8.1(a) & (b) of the West Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct in connection with his representation of Travis Norwood, who had retained Mr. Morgan with an \$8,000 check from Mr. Norwood's mother in connection with his criminal appeal. Specifically, the ODC alleges Mr. Morgan failed to obtain a written fee agreement, he failed to have the retainer deposited in his trust account, he failed to keep complete records of the funds paid, he failed to place unearned fees

³The ODC and the Hearing Panel adopted findings and conclusions that Mr. Morgan engaged in criminal conduct by submitting erroneous bills to PDS and also asserted he was blaming his staff. (Hearing Panel Order, pp. 138-39). This conclusion is completely rebutted by the detailed analysis of the PDS bills questions, where common every day mathematical errors were committed and acknowledged. Furthermore, the record demonstrates all of the PDS billing was processed by Mr. Morgan's staff, based upon the time slips Mr. Morgan created. He was not blaming his staff for any errors committed, but rather simply was explaining how the PDS billing was processed.

deposited in his trust account, he failed to provide a client his file and refund for unearned fees, he misrepresented the state of the case and misappropriated and converted funds belonging to the client, he provided false information regarding his accounting, and he failed to timely respond to the ODC's lawful request for information.

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